# PATIENT-PHYSICIAN CLUE COMMUNICATION DURING PRIMARY CARE VISITS: EXAMINING PSYCHOSOCIAL BENEFITS OF EMPATHIC PHYSICIAN COMMUNICATION

by

Samuel Hatala

A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty of Purdue University In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the degree of

**Master of Science** 



Department of Human Development and Family Studies West Lafayette, Indiana May 2021

# THE PURDUE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL STATEMENT OF COMMITTEE APPROVAL

#### Dr. Cleveland G. Shields, Chair

Department of Human Development and Family Studies

#### Dr. Elliot M. Friedman

Department of Human Development and Family Studies

#### Dr. Melissa M. Franks

Department of Human Development and Family Studies

#### Dr. Valerie S. Knopik

Department of Human Development and Family Studies

#### Approved by:

Dr. David J. Purpura

Dedicated to Ember, Sarah, Maddie, Chloe, and Annie- without your help I never would've made it to the finish line!

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Many thanks to Dr. Cleveland Shields, my adviser, for spending an immeasurable amount of time helping me to complete this thesis.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	6
ABSTRACT	7
INTRODUCTION	8
Research Problem	8
Background of the Problem	9
Communal Coping Model	10
Social Support and Controlling Non-Adaptive Perceptions	11
Physician-Patient Communication and Provision of Social Support	11
Patient Acknowledgement-Seeking Behavior	12
Patient 'Clues' in Communication	12
HYPOTHESES	15
METHODS	16
Design	16
Communication Variables	16
Outcome Measures	16
Dichotomous Coding	17
RESULTS	18
Sample Demographics	18
Correlational Analysis	19
Regression Analysis	22
Aim 1: Differences in Patient Clue Statements from the 1 <sup>st</sup> to the 2 <sup>nd</sup> Half of Visits	
Regressed on Physician Positive Responses in the 1 <sup>st</sup> Half of the Visit	22
Aim 2: Patient Clue Presentation and Patient Pain Catastrophizing and Centrality	22
Aim 3: Physician Positive Responses to Patient Clues and Physician Psychosocial Van	riables
	23
DiSCUSSION	24
Strengths and Limitations	25
CONCLUSION	26
REFERENCES	27

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Coded Variables for Analyses	
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics	
Table 3. Correlations of Study Variables	
Table 4. Difference in Patient Clues from 1st Half to 2nd Half of Visit Regressed         Positive Responses and Patient Depression and Anxiety	•
Table 5. Patient Total Clue Statements Logistic Regression On Patient Pain Cata         Centrality And Income And Education.	1 0
Table 6. Physician Positive Clue Responses Logistic Regression on Physician Depersonalization, Emotional Exhaustion, Psychosocial Burden, and Patient Inco	me and Race 23

## ABSTRACT

I performed a secondary analysis of existing data and determined that when interacting with physicians during primary care visits for chronic illness treatment, patients using opioids are less likely to continue presenting concerns designed to reinforce their social and emotional uniqueness during the second half of primary care visits when physicians provide empathic support of their concerns in the first half of visits.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **Research Problem**

Chronic pain management carries a significant financial and social cost for individuals and national economies (Phillips, 2009). Individual perceptions play a significant role in experiencing and processing chronic pain (Bär et al., 2005; Costa et al., 2016). Patients who struggle to process their response to chronic pain may develop catastrophic pain perceptions, which is associated with higher subjective reports of pain centrality (Elvery et al., 2017; Picavet, 2002). Pain centrality is a measure of how central pain is to patient self-identity (Sucher, 2020) and can amplify the presence of pain and mental illness in the lives of patients (Nicolaidis et al., 2011). Greater patient rumination about their pain is associated with increased self-identification as a person experiencing chronic pain, which can overshadow other, equally meaningful patient identities. Higher subjective pain centrality is associated with increased expression of pain behaviors in primary care settings (Kroska, 2016; Thorn et al., 2004).

Pain behaviors of particular interest to this study are verbal clues from patients (Cano & de C. Williams, 2010). These clues can be direct or indirect; patients often report the emotional impact of their chronic pain or describe the ways in which their social support network members support or fail to support them. These clues are meant to convey the uniqueness and individuality of chronic pain patients to their physician. These pain behaviors are more common in patients who report higher pain catastrophizing and higher pain centrality, indicating that these patients are responding *non-adaptively* to their pain and are struggling to affirm their identities as individuals beyond their experience of pain.

*Non-adaptive* pain perceptions are associated with higher reports of pain centrality, which often manifests as persistent pain related thoughts (Tan et al., 2011). These *non-adaptive* pain perceptions include beliefs that pain cannot be controlled, that pain will persist across the life course, and fears that daily activities will exacerbate pain (Turner et al., 2000). These emotional and psychological reactions to pain can have a greater influence on behavior than physical reports of pain (Vlaeyen, Crombez, et al., 2016) and can influence reports of pain centrality (Rosier et al., 2002).

The Communal Coping Model suggests that patients who have *non-adaptive* pain perceptions display pain behaviors in the form of direct and indirect clues in an attempt to elicit support from members of their social support networks (Sullivan, 2012), which can include healthcare providers. When patients receive social support, they report lower nonadaptive perceptions and present clues less frequently (Osborne et al., 2007). When healthcare providers do not *acknowledge* the clues presented, patients are likely to continue presenting clues to elicit support.

Experiencing chronic pain damages patient's sense of self (Smith & Osborn, 2007; Vlaeyen, Morley, et al., 2016), leading them to seek validation of their unique pain experience from their social support network. Communicating this experience is prioritized over relieving pain for many patients with non-adaptive perceptions (Prenevost & Reme, 2017; Sullivan et al., 2006). Greater acknowledgement of patients' experiences is associated with lower non-adaptive pain perceptions (Kerns et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2016).

This perception of acknowledgement is important for successful management of nonadaptive perceptions (Bloom & Spiegel, 1984; Farin, 2015). In this study, I propose that patients reporting higher pain catastrophizing and pain centrality in the form of non-adaptive perceptions will display greater pain behaviors in the form of clue presentation when communicating with their physicians (Roberts et al., 2015).

#### **Background of the Problem**

The primary purpose of this study is to examine whether more physician positive responses to patient clue statements early in a visit are associated with fewer patient clue statements later in the visit. Secondarily, I will examine whether more patient clue statements decrease the likelihood of non-adaptive pain perceptions. Thirdly, I will examine whether physician positive responses to patients' clues are associated with a decreased likelihood of negative physician psychosocial variables.

One component of patient non-adaptive perceptions is pain catastrophizing, which is a cognitive-behavioral response to chronic pain characterized by magnification of pain sensation and feelings of helplessness regarding ability to manage pain (Sullivan et al., 1995). Catastrophizing influences patient pain behavior during interactions with primary care physicians (Swinkels-Meewisse et al., 2006). These patients experience more intense emotional responses to

thoughts of pain and present clues related to reduced reported ability to function (Fritz & George, 2002), leading to increased reliance on social support network members. These patients are also more likely to express negative affect (Keefe et al., 2003), leading to the presentation of emotional clues regarding their experiences.

Pain centrality is the other component of nonadaptive perceptions and represents how core chronic pain is to patient self-concept (Nicolaidis et al., 2011) (Van Damme et al., 2004). Pain centrality is modestly correlated with pain catastrophizing. Perceptions play a strong role in the subjective experience of pain centrality (Quartana et al., 2009).

The interaction between non-adaptive perceptions and pain behaviors is conceptualized using the Communal Coping model. Current pain management theory suggests that increased presentation of pain behaviors due to non-adaptive perceptions is intended to solicit social support (Severeijns et al., 2004)- for the purposes of this study, social support comes in the form of acknowledging the clues patients may present. This provision of support suggests an interpersonal style of pain coping (Romeo et al., 2017; Sullivan et al., 2001) in which confirmation of social support is prioritized over other forms of relief (Keefe et al., 2003).

#### Communal Coping Model

The Communal Coping Model is a model designed specifically to understand pain catastrophizing and pain communication (Sullivan, 2012). Rather than presuming that pain communication is intended to *solicit material aid* from members of a chronic pain patient's social network, the communal coping model suggests that exaggerated pain displays are meant to *elicit support* or *empathic responses* from members of social support networks (Sullivan et al., 2001).

The communal coping model provides a framework for understanding how patient nonadaptive perceptions motivate specific pain behaviors when interacting with physicians. These patients may express distress in the form of verbal emotional clues in a bid for support from physicians (Boothby et al., 2004; Zajdel & Helgeson, 2020), seeking acknowledgement that their experience of pain is real (Tsui et al., 2012). Lack of acknowledgement is associated with continued clue presentation in a continuing attempt to communicate the dominance of pain in patient perceptions (heightened pain centrality) (Gauthier et al., 2011).

The communal coping model further suggests that when social network members provide social support by acknowledging the pain behaviors of chronic pain patients, these patients experience greater pain relief. These patients also seek support from both spouses and physicians (Cho et al., 2012).

#### Social Support and Controlling Non-Adaptive Perceptions

The provision of social support counters the effects of non-adaptive perceptions. Physicians who fail to recognize patient clue presentation as a bid for support may respond to clues with additional biomedical information (Street, 1991) without providing a response that acknowledges patients' lived experiences (Ishikawa et al., 2017). Properly acknowledging patient clues by responding to their content is associated with lower non-adaptive perceptions (Vangronsveld & Linton, 2012).

Patients with non-adaptive perceptions often perceive a failure to acknowledge their experiences as an explicit invalidation of their pain (Kool et al., 2009; Nicola et al., 2019). The communal coping model suggests that increased expression of pain behavior through clue presentation may be a response to lack of acknowledgement. This lack of acknowledgement leads patients to increase clue presentation (Cano & de C. Williams, 2010) in bids to achieve acknowledgement and empathetic understanding of their experiences as individuals (Frantsve & Kerns, 2007).

#### **Physician-Patient Communication and Provision of Social Support**

Physicians provide more social support to patients when they present more pain behaviors and greater non-adaptive perceptions (Finset, 2012; Street, 1992); depending on specialization, physicians directly acknowledge patient clues in 13-45% of encounters, with primary care providers (Mjaaland et al., 2011) acknowledging patient clues directly most often.

Patients with non-adaptive perceptions may also not be satisfied by initial attempts at acknowledgement (Al-Abri & Al-Balushi, 2014) because primary care physicians often believe that they must convince patients that their illness is not serious (Linton et al., 2008). Patients often seek acknowledgement that their pain *is* serious and being taken seriously by those around them, especially their primary physician. Patients who catastrophize are preoccupied with their pain and feel intense fear, anxiety, and helplessness (Theunissen et al., 2012), which can impair their ability

11

to communicate their experiences. This can often prolong their interviews as they struggle to explain their circumstances to their physician (Mjaaland et al., 2011).

Increased patient clue presentation is associated with lower pain centrality (Wideman & Sullivan, 2011). Physician acknowledgement of patient clues reduces non-adaptive perceptions and encourages patients to view their physicians as genuinely concerned about their pain (Matthias et al., 2013). This acknowledgement of concern leads to reduced pain centrality (Butow & Sharpe, 2013).

Physicians can provide this acknowledgement by attending to patient verbal and nonverbal communication (Halpern, 2007)- potentially by managing patient emotional and social clues as well. Acknowledging individual patient emotions and concerns moderates non-adaptive perceptions, validating the personhood of their patients and their unique pain-related experiences.

#### Patient Acknowledgement-Seeking Behavior

Patients may seek acknowledgement of their unique experiences by expressing clues in the form of concerns about social support networks (Giardino et al., 2003) and complaints about the emotional consequences of chronic pain (Sullivan et al., 2004). The communal coping model of chronic pain suggests that these behaviors, caused by non-adaptive perceptions that increase discomfort, also increase social proximity and support (Thorn et al., 2003).

Greater initial expression of pain behaviors is associated with higher perceptions of provisioned social support (Keefe et al., 2003) which reassures patients that their pain will be acknowledged if requested (Helgeson et al., 2018). Perceiving that a physician is more likely to acknowledge patient clue presentation is also associated with higher perceptions of provisioned social support (Gao et al., 2013). These perceptions of social support are associated with reduced non-adaptive perceptions (López-Martínez et al., 2008).

#### **Patient 'Clues' in Communication**

Patient clues are often indirect and are either emotional or social. Emotional clues occur when a patient uses emotion words or present an opportunity for their physician to respond to how they feel about their pain (Levinson, 2000). Social clues occur when a patient mentions a topic of

common interest, such as weather, sports, vacations, or family and friends without emotional content.

Both of these clue types are opportunities for patients to express themselves as unique individuals and for physicians to acknowledge that uniqueness. Emotional clues allow patients to establish themselves as unique individuals with unique reactions to their pain and social clues allow patients to establish themselves as unique individuals with lives beyond their pain experience; social clues also allow patients to make bids for support based on the clues they provide on how their pain interferes with their daily lives. See Appendix D for an example of the template used to categorize patient clues and physician responses.

Physicians who see these clues as opportunities to provide social support to chronic pain patients are more likely to respond with acknowledgement. They may also interpret clues as distractions and avoid acknowledging them (Levinson, 2000). Acknowledgement from these physicians is essential for management of non-adaptive perceptions by chronic pain patients (Burns et al., 2015; Dunkel-Schetter et al., 1987). Patients presenting with chronic pain and/or other medical issues in primary care settings will continue presenting clues if initial clues are not acknowledged, producing the distraction physicians attempt to avoid (Suchman et al., 1997). Physicians are overall unlikely to respond positively to patient clues (Pollak et al., 2007).

Patient income, ethnicity, and self-reported education all have a significant influence on communication between patients and physicians (Long et al., 2014; Verlinde et al., 2012). Higher patient income and self-reported education are both associated with higher presentation of social and emotional clues to physicians (Cox et al., 2012). Higher income and education are also associated with increased positive responses from physicians. Patients of ethnicities different than physicians both tend to report fewer positive responses to their presented clues (Hagiwara et al., 2013).

Physicians who treat patients with chronic pain often experience burnout due to the effort their work requires. Sixty percent report emotional exhaustion and 30% report depersonalization (Kroll & Macaulay, 2016). Depersonalization refers to a reduced capability to feel empathy for coworkers, patients, friends, and/or family members (West et al., 2012). Physician emotional exhaustion reduces physician ability to empathize and depersonalizing their patients reduces satisfaction (Kumar, 2016). Both burnout symptoms are associated with less exploration of patients' perceptions of their chronic pain (Shanafelt et al., 2009).

Previous conceptual models of non-cancer chronic pain management did not account for nonphysical characteristics (Borrell-Carrió et al., 2004; Engel, 1977). Physician psychological and social interaction with patients is an important part of pain management- greater willingness to acknowledge patient psychosocial issues and clue presentation is associated with lower physician burnout (Travado et al., 2005).

We will code transcripts of primary care visits for clues offered by patients and physician responses to these clues to examine physician and patient interaction with patients with non-cancer chronic pain who are using opioids.

#### **HYPOTHESES**

- Aim 1: To examine associations between physician responses to patient clues and patient clue presentation during the first and second half of primary care visits.
  - H1.1: Greater positive physician responses to patient clues during the first half of transcripts will be associated with decreased patient presentation of clues during the second half of primary care visits.
- Aim 2: To examine likelihoods between patient clue presentation and patient psychosocial variables during healthcare visits.
  - H2.1: Greater patient presentation of social and emotional clues will increase the likelihood of higher initial patient pain catastrophizing
  - H2.2: Greater patient presentation of social and emotional clues will increase the likelihood of higher initial patient pain centrality
- Aim 3: To examine likelihoods between increased physician positive responses to patient clue presentation and physician psychosocial characteristics during interactions with patients.
  - H3.1: Greater physician positive responses to patient clue presentation will increase the likelihood of lower initially reported physician emotional exhaustion
  - H3.2: Greater physician positive responses to patient clue presentation will increase the likelihood of lower initially reported physician depersonalization
  - H3.3: Greater physician positive responses to patient clue presentation will increase the likelihood of lower initially reported physician psychosocial burden

#### METHODS

#### Design

My thesis is a secondary analysis of data from an observational study patients with noncancer chronic pain who were prescribed opioids (Matthias et al., 2017; Shields et al., 2019). In the original study, eight physicians consented to have three visits with thirty patients audio recorded. Patients were eligible for the study if they were 18+, had non-cancer chronic pain, and were taking opioids.

Thirty patients were enrolled, and 24 patients had all three transcripts available for analysis- only patients with all three transcripts were included in the analysis, providing a total of 72 analyzable transcripts. Patients and physicians had an established relationship. Thus. 'Visit 1' was not the first interaction between each patient and each physician. The transcripts only recorded chronic pain discussion between patients and physicians and captured 5-15 minutes of dialogue each. Each transcript was analyzed separately to determine whether patient and physician psychosocial characteristics lead to differences in clue presentation over the course of the visit.

#### **Communication Variables**

I developed a coding system to assess patient clues and physician responses from transcripts. Patient clues consisted of social and emotional disclosures. Physician responses consisted of positive responses such as acknowledgment and supportive.

#### **Outcome Measures**

The dependent variable for Hypothesis 1 was the difference between the number of patient clues uttered in the first half of the session in the number of patient clues numbered in the  $2^{nd}$  half of the session (*CLUE\_DIFF* = *PT\_PRES\_2* - *PT\_PRES\_1*) and the total physician positive responses to patient clues in the first half of visits (*PHYS\_RESP\_1\_POS*). A negative score for clue difference indicated that patients reduced their clue statements in the second half of the visit.

The dependent variable for Hypothesis 2 was patient total clue presentation (*TOT\_CLUE*). The dependent variable for Hypothesis 3 was positive physician responses to patient clue presentation (*PHYS\_POS\_RESP*). Table 1 summarizes my coded variables.

Variable Name	Explanation
Hypothesis 1	
First half of visit	
PHYS_RESP_1_POS	(all physician POSITIVE responses to patient clues)
PT_PRES_1	(all patient clues presented to physicians during first half of visits)
Second half of visit	
PT_PRES_2	(all patient clues presented to physicians during second half of visits)
CLUE_DIFF	(difference between clue presentation in first and second half of visits- (PT_PRES_2 – PT_PRES_1))
Hypothesis 2	
TOT_CLUE	(all patient clues presented to physicians across all visits)
Hypothesis 3	
PHYS_POS_RESP	(total physician positive responses to patient clues presented across visits)

#### Table 1. Coded Variables for Analyses

#### **Dichotomous** Coding

For Aims 2 and 3, PHYS\_POS\_RESP and TOT\_CLUE were not normally distributed; to fix this, they were recoded to be dichotomous. If there were no physician positive responses in the first half of the visit, then physician positive responses were equal to zero; if there was at least one or more responses the variable was coded one. Total clues were coded slightly differently; if there was one or less clue, it was coded zero. If there was two or more it was coded one.

The analysis for Aim 1 used multiple regression analysis. I used logistic regression analysis to examine Aims 2 and 3. Analyses were controlled for demographic variables when demographic variables were correlated with the outcomes.

#### RESULTS

The standardized intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) was 0.89, showing that the undergraduate student research assistants reliably coded the transcripts. The ICC is a measure of how well the coding system differentiates cases between coders; an ICC greater than 0.70 is considered good (Shrout & Fleiss, 1979).

#### **Sample Demographics**

Table 2 shows the descriptive statistics of the study variables. We identified each clue that patients presented to their physicians and assessed whether physicians provided positive responses to patient clues. Physicians responded to patient clues positively 57% of the time.

Patients averaged scores of 23.43 (SD = 15.25) on pain catastrophizing on a 52-point scale and averaged similar scores of 27.3 (SD = 8.7) on pain centrality on a 43-point scale. Patients averaged scores of 3.32 (SD = 1.7) on education on a 7-point scale, an average of 2.29 (SD = 0.79) on income on a 3-point scale, and an average of 2.00 (SD = 1.38) on race on a 6-point scale.

Characteristic	Ν	M/%	SD	Range
Physician Coded Communication				
Pos_Response (Yes = 1, No = 0)	72	57%		0 - 1
Patient Coded Communication				
Total Patient Clues	72	5.10	6.19	0 - 39
Patient Clue Difference = $(2^{nd})$ Half Clues – $1^{st}$ Half Clues)	72	-0.54	2.06	-7 - 5
Patient Self-Report				
Patient Pain Catastrophizing	23	24.56	15.09	0 - 52
Patient Pain Centrality	23	27.01	8.12	0-41
Patient Education	23	3.31	1.7	1 - 7
Patient income	23	2.29	0.72	1 – 3
Patient Race	23	2.00	1.38	1-6
Physician Self-Report				
Physician Psychosocial Burden	8	2.55	0.40	0-7
Physician Burnout				
Emotional exhaustion	8	2.40	1.15	0-7
Depersonalization	8	1.51	1.11	0-7
Achievement	8	5.01	0.64	0-7

#### Table 2. Descriptive Statistics

#### **Correlational Analysis**

Table 3 shows the correlational analysis among study variables. Patient clue presentation was significantly associated (r = 0.28, p  $\leq$  0.05) with sufficient income for survival and significantly associated (r = -0.28, p  $\leq$  0.05) with patient ethnicity.

Physician positive responses to patient clues were also significantly associated (r = 0.27,  $p \le 0.05$ ) with sufficient patient income for survival *and* significantly associated (r = -0.29,  $p \le 0.05$ ) with patient ethnicity. Physician positive responses to patient clues during the first half of visits were also significantly associated (r = -0.28,  $p \le 0.05$ ) with patient ethnicity.

		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1	Difference in patient clue presentation between first and second half of transcripts											
2	Total patient clue presentation	-0.34										
3	Physician positive response to patient clues	-0.29	0.95									
4	Physician positive response to patient clues first half of visits	-0.52	0.92	0.94								
5	Patient pain catastrophizing	-0.07	-0.03	-0.03	-0.03							
6	Patient pain centrality	-0.15	0.03	0.05	0.05	0.74						
7	Physician emotional exhaustion	0.01	-0.06	-0.04	0.00	0.13	0.27					
8	Physician depersonalization	0.02	-0.11	-0.14	-0.09	0.08	0.21	0.64				
9	Physician psychosocial burden	0.06	-0.16	-0.19	-0.17	0.10	0.10	0.13	0.59			
10	$\geq$ 2 years of college education	-0.16	0.21	0.16	0.16	-0.50	-0.48	-0.01	-0.06	-0.05		
11	Sufficient income to survive	-0.05	0.28	0.27	0.23	-0.38	-0.16	-0.36	-0.25	-0.45	-0.01	
12	Black	0.21	-0.28	-0.29	-0.28	0.33	0.20	0.28	0.18	0.16	-0.30	-0.27

#### **Regression Analysis**

# Aim 1: Differences in Patient Clue Statements from the $1^{st}$ to the $2^{nd}$ Half of Visits Regressed on Physician Positive Responses in the $1^{st}$ Half of the Visit

Physician positive responses to patient clues during the first half of visits were positively associated ( $\beta = -0.51$ ,  $\alpha < 0.001$ ) with decreased patient clue statements in the second half. Patient race and income were not associated with physician positive responses to patient clues. Table 4 summarizes my findings.

Table 4. Difference in Patient Clues from 1st Half to 2nd Half of Visit Regressed on PhysicianPositive Responses and Patient Depression and Anxiety

Variables	В	SE	β	t	Р
Physician Positive Responses 1st Half Transcripts	-2.12*	0.44	-0.52	-4.82	<.00
Patient Race	0.11	0.43	0.03	0.27	0.78
Patient Income	0.26	0.44	0.04	0.37	0.71
Key * p ≤.05					

#### Aim 2: Patient Clue Presentation and Patient Pain Catastrophizing and Centrality

Patients who report higher catastrophizing were more likely to report higher presentation of clues to physicians (OR = 1.075)- if they have sufficient income to survive on (OR = 0.151) and at least two years of college education (0.148), they were also more likely to present clues to physicians. Table 5 summarizes my findings.

 

 Table 5. Patient Total Clue Statements Logistic Regression On Patient Pain Catastrophizing And Centrality And Income And Education.

Variable	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Patient Pain Centrality	1.020	0.922-1.128
Patient Pain Catastrophizing	1.075	1.007-1.146 *
Patient Income	6.605	1.530-28.514 *
Patient Education	6.747	1.260-36.117 *
Key * p ≤.05		

#### Aim 3: Physician Positive Responses to Patient Clues and Physician Psychosocial Variables

Higher emotional exhaustion was associated with an increased likelihood of positive physician responses to patient clues (OR = 2.853). Black patients were less likely to receive positive physician responses to their clues (OR = 0.213). Table 5 summarizes my findings.

Variable	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Physician Emotional Exhaustion	2.853	1.203 - 6.765 *
Physician Depersonalization	0.454	0.172 - 1.196
Physician Psychosocial Burden	1.761	0.175 -17.768
Black Patient	0.213	0.063 - 0.717 *
Patient Income	3.246	0.677 - 15.568

Table 6. Physician Positive Clue Responses Logistic Regression on PhysicianDepersonalization, Emotional Exhaustion, Psychosocial Burden, and Patient Income and Race

Key \*  $p \le .05$ 

#### DISCUSSION

Physician positive responses to patient clues in the first half of visits were positively associated with a decrease in patient clue presentation in the second half of visits, as we predicted. Just one positive response to a patient clue in the first half of a visit is associated with more than two fewer clues in the second half of a visit. Providing the opportunity for further emotional discussion with patients is associated with improved outcomes (Adams et al., 2012) regardless of whether patients act on the provided opportunities. Physicians are also more likely to respond to the first clue a patient provides (Finset et al., 2013); a positive response to this first clue is likely to improve patient satisfaction and likely decrease future clue presentation.

Patient clue statements were not associated with patient pain centrality, contrary to our predictions. However, pain catastrophizing was associated with a higher likelihood that patients would make clue statements, as we had hypothesized. Thibault et al. (2008) also drew on the communal coping model and found a positive association between increased catastrophizing and increased pain communication behaviors. However, they measured pain communication from video recordings noting nonverbal and verbal indicators of pain.

When patients had a sufficient income and at least two years of college education they were almost 7 times more likely to make clue statements. Other studies have found similar results that patients with higher income and education produce more clues (Siminoff et al., 2006) and that physicians respond more positively to patients with higher income and education (Allen et al., 2018).

Physicians were less likely to provide positive responses to African-American patients (Park et al., 2019). The disparities in communication with Black patients may be synergistic because Black patients are also less likely to make clues statements (Gordon et al., 2006) and physicians are less likely to respond positively (Park et al., 2020). Training in patient-specific communication skills may be a method of improving cross-racial patient-physician communication by improving physician positive responses to clues from patients of different races (Ruben et al., 2020).

I found that increased physician emotional exhaustion was associated with increased positive response to patient clues, which was the opposite of what I had predicted. There were no significant associations between physician positive responses to patient clues and physician depersonalization or psychosocial orientation. It may be that physicians who respond positively to patient clues also experience greater emotional exhaustion; however, a recent review found only one study out of ten found a positive relationship between burnout and empathy (Wilkinson et al., 2017).

Recognition of patient clues is valued by patients (Blanch-Hartigan, 2013). Positive physician responses to patient emotional expressions also leads to increased trust and improved communication and treatment agreement (Adams et al., 2012). Physicians can be trained to display more of these behaviors (Blanch-Hartigan & Ruben, 2013; Lundeby et al., 2017), suggesting that systematic improvements in physician education may lead to systematic improvements in patient satisfaction.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

Students coded the transcripts with high interrater reliability. While our sample was small, it was racially diverse and focused on the problem of pain management and opioids. Our data was also non-independent- visits were nested within patient and patients were nested within eight physicians, but my analysis did not control for nesting. My study was also limited to transcripts that had no video or nonverbal behaviors. Thus, our inability to find a relationship between pain centrality and clue presentation may be a result of my less rich information about patient and physician communication. Future studies should include larger samples from more than one healthcare site. Diverse types of healthcare professionals should also be considered, as specialization may plays a role in physician willingness to respond to patient clues.

## CONCLUSION

My study found that when physicians respond to patient emotional or social clues during the first half of the session patients make fewer clue statements during the second half. Many physicians avoid responding to emotional or social clues because they fear that they will be overwhelmed by patient emotions (Shapiro, 2011). However, my results suggested that patients are satisfied with an acknowledgment of their emotional and social concerns during the first half of visits and do not escalate them in the second half of the session.

### REFERENCES

- Adams, K., Cimino, J. E. W., Arnold, R. M., & Anderson, W. G. (2012). Why should I talk about emotion? Communication patterns associated with physician discussion of patient expressions of negative emotion in hospital admission encounters. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 89(1), 44–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2012.04.005
- Al-Abri, R., & Al-Balushi, A. (2014). Patient Satisfaction Survey as a Tool Towards Quality Improvement. *Oman Medical Journal*, 29(1), 3–7. https://doi.org/10.5001/omj.2014.02
- Allen, S., Harris, R., Brown, S. L., Humphris, G., Zhou, Y., & Rogers, S. N. (2018). High levels of socioeconomic deprivation do not inhibit patients' communication of concerns in head and neck cancer review clinics. *British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 56(6), 536–539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjoms.2018.05.015
- Bär, K.-J., Brehm, S., Boettger, M. K., Boettger, S., Wagner, G., & Sauer, H. (2005). Pain perception in major depression depends on pain modality: *Pain*, 117(1), 97–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2005.05.016
- Blanch-Hartigan, D. (2013). Patient satisfaction with physician errors in detecting and identifying patient emotion cues. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 93(1), 56–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2013.04.010
- Blanch-Hartigan, D., & Ruben, M. A. (2013). Training clinicians to accurately perceive their patients: Current state and future directions. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 92(3), 328–336. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2013.02.010
- Bloom, J. R., & Spiegel, D. (1984). The relationship of two dimensions of social support to the psychological well-being and social functioning of women with advanced breast cancer. *Social Science & Medicine*, 19(8), 831–837. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(84)90400-3
- Boothby, J. L., Thorn, B. E., Overduin, L. Y., & Charles Ward, L. (2004). Catastrophizing and perceived partner responses to pain: *Pain*, *109*(3), 500–506. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2004.02.030
- Borrell-Carrió, F., Suchman, A. L., & Epstein, R. M. (2004). The biopsychosocial model 25 years later: Principles, practice, and scientific inquiry. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, 2(6), 576–582.

- Burns, J. W., Gerhart, J. I., Post, K. M., Smith, D. A., Porter, L. S., Schuster, E., Buvanendran, A., Fras, A. M., & Keefe, F. J. (2015). The Communal Coping Model of Pain Catastrophizing in Daily Life: A Within-Couples Daily Diary Study. *The Journal of Pain*, 16(11), 1163–1175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2015.08.005
- Cano, A., & de C. Williams, A. C. (2010). Social interaction in pain: Reinforcing pain behaviors or building intimacy?: *Pain*, *149*(1), 9–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2009.10.010
- Cho, S., Zunin, I. D., Chao, P. J., Heiby, E. M., & McKoy, J. (2012). Effects of Pain Controllability and Discrepancy in Social Support on Depressed Mood Among Patients with Chronic Pain. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 19(3), 270–279. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12529-011-9175-4
- Costa, E. C. V., Vale, S., Sobral, M., & Graça Pereira, M. (2016). Illness perceptions are the main predictors of depression and anxiety symptoms in patients with chronic pain. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 21(4), 483–495. https://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2015.1109673
- Cox, E. D., Nackers, K. A., Young, H. N., Moreno, M. A., Levy, J. F., & Mangione-Smith, R. M. (2012). Influence of race and socioeconomic status on engagement in pediatric primary care. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 87(3), 319–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2011.09.012
- Dunkel-Schetter, C., Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1987). Correlates of Social Support Receipt. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 53(1), 71–81.
- Elvery, N., Jensen, M., Ehde, D., & Day, M. (2017). Pain Catastrophizing, Mindfulness, and Pain Acceptance: What's the Difference? *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, *33*(6), 485–495.
- Engel, G. L. (1977). The need for a new medical model: A challenge for biomedicine. *Science*, *196*(4286), 129–136.
- Farin, E. (2015). The reciprocal effect of pain catastrophizing and satisfaction with participation in the multidisciplinary treatment of patients with chronic back pain. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, *13*(1), 163. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-015-0359-5
- Finset, A. (2012). "I am worried, Doctor!" Emotions in the doctor-patient relationship. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 88(3), 359–363. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2012.06.022

- Finset, A., Heyn, L., & Ruland, C. (2013). Patterns in clinicians' responses to patient emotion in cancer care. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 93(1), 80–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2013.04.023
- Frantsve, L. M. E., & Kerns, R. D. (2007). Patient–provider interactions in the management of chronic pain: Current findings within the context of shared medical decision making. *Pain Medicine*, 8(1), 25–35.
- Fritz, J. M., & George, S. Z. (2002). Identifying Psychosocial Variables in Patients With Acute Work-Related Low Back Pain: The Importance of Fear-Avoidance Beliefs. *Physical Therapy*, 82(10), 973–983. https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/82.10.973
- Gao, J., Wang, J., Zheng, P., Haardörfer, R., Kegler, M. C., Zhu, Y., & Fu, H. (2013). Effects of self-care, self-efficacy, social support on glycemic control in adults with type 2 diabetes. *BMC Family Practice*, 14(1), 66. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-14-66
- Gauthier, N., Thibault, P., & Sullivan, M. J. (2011). Catastrophizers with Chronic Pain Display more Pain Behaviour when in a Relationship with a Low Catastrophizing Spouse. *Pain Research and Management*, *16*(5), 293–299. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/247940
- Giardino, N. D., Jensen, M. P., Turner, J. A., Ehde, D. M., & Cardenas, D. D. (2003). Social environment moderates the association between catastrophizing and pain among persons with a spinal cord injury: *Pain*, *106*(1), 19–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(03)00226-4
- Gordon, H. S., Street, R. L., Sharf, B. F., & Souchek, J. (2006). Racial differences in doctors' information-giving and patients' participation. *Cancer*, *107*(6), 1313–1320. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.22122
- Hagiwara, N., Penner, L. A., Gonzalez, R., Eggly, S., Dovidio, J. F., Gaertner, S. L., West, T., & Albrecht, T. L. (2013). Racial attitudes, physician–patient talk time ratio, and adherence in racially discordant medical interactions. *Social Science & Medicine*, 87, 123–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.03.016
- Halpern, J. (2007). Empathy and Patient–Physician Conflicts. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 22(5), 696–700. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-006-0102-3
- Helgeson, V. S., Jakubiak, B., Van Vleet, M., & Zajdel, M. (2018). Communal Coping and Adjustment to Chronic Illness: Theory Update and Evidence. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 22(2), 170–195. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868317735767

- Ishikawa, H., Son, D., Eto, M., Kitamura, K., & Kiuchi, T. (2017). The information-giving skills of resident physicians: Relationships with confidence and simulated patient satisfaction. *BMC Medical Education*, 17(1), 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-017-0875-6
- Keefe, F. J., Lipkus, I., Lefebvre, J. C., Hurwitz, H., Clipp, E., Smith, J., & Porter, L. (2003). The social context of gastrointestinal cancer pain: A preliminary study examining the relation of patient pain catastrophizing to patient perceptions of social support and caregiver stress and negative responses: *Pain*, *103*(1), 151–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(02)00447-5
- Kerns, R. D., Rosenberg, R., & Otis, J. D. (2002). Self-appraised problem solving and painrelevant social support as predictors of the experience of chronic pain. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 24(2), 100–105. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15324796ABM2402\_06
- Kool, M. B., van Middendorp, H., Boeije, H. R., & Geenen, R. (2009). Understanding the lack of understanding: Invalidation from the perspective of the patient with fibromyalgia. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 61(12), 1650–1656. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.24922
- Kroll, H., & Macaulay, T. (2016). A preliminary survey examining predictors of burnout in pain medicine physicians in the United States. *Pain Physician*, 19, E689–E696.
- Kroska, E. (2016). A meta-analysis of fear-avoidance and pain intensity: The paradox of chronic pain. *Scandinavian Journal of Pain*, *13*, 43–58.
- Kumar, S. (2016). Burnout and doctors: Prevalence, prevention and intervention. *Healthcare*, *4*, 37.
- Lee, J. E., Kahana, B., & Kahana, E. (2016). Social support and cognitive functioning as resources for elderly persons with chronic arthritis pain. *Aging & Mental Health*, 20(4), 370–379. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2015.1013920
- Levinson, W. (2000). A Study of Patient Clues and Physician Responses in Primary Care and Surgical Settings. *JAMA*, 284(8), 1021. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.284.8.1021
- Linton, S. J., McCracken, L. M., & Vlaeyen, J. W. S. (2008). Reassurance: Help or hinder in the treatment of pain: *Pain*, *134*(1), 5–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2007.10.002

- Long, A. C., Engelberg, R. A., Downey, L., Kross, E. K., Reinke, L. F., Cecere Feemster, L., Dotolo, D., Ford, D. W., Back, A. L., & Curtis, J. R. (2014). Race, Income, and Education: Associations with Patient and Family Ratings of End-of-Life Care and Communication Provided by Physicians-in-Training. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, 17(4), 435–447. https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2013.0214
- López-Martínez, A. E., Esteve-Zarazaga, R., & Ramírez-Maestre, C. (2008). Perceived Social Support and Coping Responses Are Independent Variables Explaining Pain Adjustment Among Chronic Pain Patients. *The Journal of Pain*, 9(4), 373–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2007.12.002
- Lundeby, T., Jacobsen, H. B., Lundeby, P. A., & Loge, J. H. (2017). Emotions in communication skills training – experiences from general practice to Porsche maintenance. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 100(11), 2141–2143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2017.06.006
- Matthias, M. S., Johnson, N. L., Shields, C. G., Bair, M. J., MacKie, P., Huffman, M., & Alexander, S. C. (2017). "I'm Not Gonna Pull the Rug out From Under You": Patient-Provider Communication About Opioid Tapering. *The Journal of Pain*, 18(11), 1365– 1373.
- Mjaaland, T. A., Finset, A., Jensen, B. F., & Gulbrandsen, P. (2011). Physicians' responses to patients' expressions of negative emotions in hospital consultations: A video-based observational study. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 84(3), 332–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2011.02.001
- Nicola, M., Correia, H., Ditchburn, G., & Drummond, P. (2019). Invalidation of chronic pain: A thematic analysis of pain narratives. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2019.1636888
- Nicolaidis, C., Chianello, T., & Gerrity, M. (2011). Development and Preliminary Psychometric Testing of the Centrality of Pain Scale. *Pain Medicine*, *12*(4), 612–617. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4637.2011.01072.x
- Osborne, T. L., Jensen, M. P., Ehde, D. M., Hanley, M. A., & Kraft, G. (2007). Psychosocial factors associated with pain intensity, pain-related interference, and psychological functioning in persons with multiple sclerosis and pain: *Pain*, *127*(1), 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2006.07.017
- Park, J., Beach, M. C., Han, D., Moore, R. D., Korthuis, P. T., & Saha, S. (2020). Racial disparities in clinician responses to patient emotions. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 103(9), 1736–1744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2020.03.019

- Park, J., Saha, S., Han, D., De Maesschalck, S., Moore, R., Korthuis, T., Roter, D., Knowlton, A., Woodson, T., & Beach, M. C. (2019). Emotional Communication in HIV Care: An Observational Study of Patients' Expressed Emotions and Clinician Response. *AIDS and Behavior*, 23(10), 2816–2828. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-019-02466-z
- Phillips, C. J. (2009). The Cost and Burden of Chronic Pain. *Reviews in Pain*, *3*(1), 2–5. https://doi.org/10.1177/204946370900300102
- Picavet, H. S. J. (2002). Pain Catastrophizing and Kinesiophobia: Predictors of Chronic Low Back Pain. American Journal of Epidemiology, 156(11), 1028–1034. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwf136
- Pollak, K. I., Arnold, R. M., Jeffreys, A. S., Alexander, S. C., Olsen, M. K., Abernethy, A. P., Sugg Skinner, C., Rodriguez, K. L., & Tulsky, J. A. (2007). Oncologist Communication About Emotion During Visits With Patients With Advanced Cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 25(36), 5748–5752. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2007.12.4180
- Prenevost, M. H., & Reme, S. E. (2017). Couples coping with chronic pain: How do intercouple interactions relate to pain coping? *Scandinavian Journal of Pain*, *16*(1), 150–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjpain.2017.05.010
- Quartana, P. J., Campbell, C. M., & Edwards, R. R. (2009). Pain catastrophizing: A critical review. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, 9(5), 745–758. https://doi.org/10.1586/ern.09.34
- Roberts, M. H., Klatzkin, R. R., & Mechlin, B. (2015). Social Support Attenuates Physiological Stress Responses and Experimental Pain Sensitivity to Cold Pressor Pain. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 49(4), 557–569. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-015-9686-3
- Romeo, A., Tesio, V., Castelnuovo, G., & Castelli, L. (2017). Attachment Style and Chronic Pain: Toward an Interpersonal Model of Pain. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00284
- Rosier, E. M., Iadarola, M. J., & Coghill, R. C. (2002). Reproducibility of pain measurement and pain perception: *Pain*, *98*(1), 205–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(02)00048-9
- Ruben, M., Blanch-Hartigan, D., & Hall, J. (2020). Communication Skills to Engage Patients in Treatment. *The Wiley Handbook of Healthcare Treatment Engagement:*, 274.

- Severeijns, R., Vlaeyen, J. W. S., & van den Hout, M. A. (2004). Do we need a communal coping model of pain catastrophizing? An alternative explanation: *Pain*, 111(3), 226– 229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2004.07.024
- Shanafelt, T. D., West, C. P., Sloan, J. A., Novotny, P. J., Poland, G. A., Menaker, R., & Dyrbye, L. N. (2009). Career fit and burnout among academic faculty. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 169(10), 990–995.
- Shields, C. G., Fuzzell, L., Christ, S. L., & Matthias, M. S. (2019). Patient and provider characteristics associated with communication about opioids: An observational study. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *102*(5), 888–894.
- Shrout, P. E., & Fleiss, J. L. (1979). Intraclass Correlations: Uses in Assessing Rater Reliability. *Psychological Bulletin*, 86, 420–428.
- Siminoff, L. A., Graham, G. C., & Gordon, N. H. (2006). Cancer communication patterns and the influence of patient characteristics: Disparities in information-giving and affective behaviors. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 62(3), 355–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2006.06.011
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2007). Pain as an assault on the self: An interpretative phenomenological analysis of the psychological impact of chronic benign low back pain. *Psychology & Health*, 22(5), 517–534. https://doi.org/10.1080/14768320600941756
- Street, R. L. (1991). Information-giving in medical consultations: The influence of patients' communicative styles and personal characteristics. *Social Science & Medicine*, 32(5), 541–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(91)90288-N
- Street, R. L. (1992). Communicative styles and adaptations in physician-parent consultations. Social Science & Medicine, 34(10), 1155–1163. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(92)90289-3
- Sucher, J. (2020). Pain centrality mediates pain self-efficacy and symptom severity among individuals reporting chronic pain. 10.
- Suchman, L., Markakis, K., & Beckman, H. B. (1997). A Model of Empathic Communication in the Medical Interview. 277(8), 678–682.
- Sullivan. (2012). The communal coping model of pain catastrophising: Clinical and research implications. *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie Canadienne*, *53*(1), 32–41. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026726

- Sullivan, Adams, H., & Sullivan, M. E. (2004). Communicative dimensions of pain catastrophizing: Social cueing effects on pain behaviour and coping: *Pain*, 107(3), 220– 226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2003.11.003
- Sullivan, M. J., Bishop, S. R., & Pivik, J. (1995). The pain catastrophizing scale: Development and validation. *Psychological Assessment*, 7(4), 524.
- Sullivan, Martel, M. O., Tripp, D., Savard, A., & Crombez, G. (2006). The relation between catastrophizing and the communication of pain experience: *Pain*, 122(3), 282–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2006.02.001
- Sullivan, Thorn, B., Haythornthwaite, J. A., Keefe, F., Martin, M., Bradley, L. A., & Lefebvre, J. C. (2001). Theoretical Perspectives on the Relation Between Catastrophizing and Pain: *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 17(1), 52–64. https://doi.org/10.1097/00002508-200103000-00008
- Swinkels-Meewisse, I. E. J., Roelofs, J., Oostendorp, R. A. B., Verbeek, A. L. M., & Vlaeyen, J. W. S. (2006). Acute low back pain: Pain-related fear and pain catastrophizing influence physical performance and perceived disability: *Pain*, *120*(1–2), 36–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2005.10.005
- Tan, G., Teo, I., Anderson, K., & Jensen, M. (2011). Adaptive Versus Maladaptive Coping and Beliefs and Their Relation to Chronic Pain Adjustment. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 27(9), 769–744.
- Theunissen, M., Peters, M. L., Bruce, J., Gramke, H. F., & Marcus, M. A. (2012). Preoperative anxiety and catastrophizing: A systematic review and meta-analysis of the association with chronic postsurgical pain. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 28(9), 819–841.
- Thorn, Anderson, T., & Keefe, F. (2004). The communal coping model and interpersonal context: Problems or process?: *Pain*, *110*(3), 505–507. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2004.05.006
- Thorn, B. E., Ward, L. C., Sullivan, M. J. L., & Boothby, J. L. (2003). Communal coping model of catastrophizing: Conceptual model building: *Pain*, *106*(1), 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(03)00228-8
- Travado, L., Grassi, L., Gil, F., Ventura, C., Martins, C., & Group, S. E. P.-O. S. (SEPOS).
  (2005). Physician-patient communication among Southern European cancer physicians: The influence of psychosocial orientation and burnout. *Psycho-Oncology*, *14*(8), 661–670.

- Tsui, P., Day, M., Thorn, B., Rubin, N., Alexander, C., & Jones, R. (2012). The Communal Coping Model of Catastrophizing: Patient–Health Provider Interactions. *Pain Medicine*, 13(1), 66–79. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4637.2011.01288.x
- Turner, J. A., Jensen, M. P., & Romano, J. M. (2000). Do beliefs, coping, and catastrophizing independently predict functioning in patients with chronic pain?: *Pain*, 85(1), 115–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(99)00259-6
- Van Damme, S., Crombez, G., & Eccleston, C. (2004). Disengagement from pain: The role of catastrophic thinking about pain: *Pain*, 107(1), 70–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2003.09.023
- Vangronsveld, K. L., & Linton, S. J. (2012). The effect of validating and invalidating communication on satisfaction, pain and affect in nurses suffering from low back pain during a semi-structured interview: The effect of validating and invalidating communication on satisfaction, pain and affect. *European Journal of Pain*, 16(2), 239– 246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2011.07.009
- Verlinde, E., De Laender, N., De Maesschalck, S., Deveugele, M., & Willems, S. (2012). The social gradient in doctor-patient communication. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 11(1), 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-9276-11-12
- Vlaeyen, J. W. S., Crombez, G., & Linton, S. J. (2016). The fear-avoidance model of pain: *PAIN*, *157*(8), 1588–1589. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000000574
- Vlaeyen, J. W. S., Morley, S., & Crombez, G. (2016). The experimental analysis of the interruptive, interfering, and identity-distorting effects of chronic pain. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 86, 23–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2016.08.016
- West, C. P., Dyrbye, L. N., Satele, D. V., Sloan, J. A., & Shanafelt, T. D. (2012). Concurrent Validity of Single-Item Measures of Emotional Exhaustion and Depersonalization in Burnout Assessment. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 27(11), 1445–1452. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-012-2015-7
- Wilkinson, H., Whittington, R., Perry, L., & Eames, C. (2017). Examining the relationship between burnout and empathy in healthcare professionals: A systematic review. *Burnout Research*, 6, 18–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burn.2017.06.003
- Zajdel, M., & Helgeson, V. S. (2020). Communal coping: A multi-method approach with links to relationships and health. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *37*(5), 1700–1721. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407520903811